Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jsbmb



A review of mechanistic studies on aromatase (CYP19) and 17α -hydroxylase-17,20-lyase (CYP17)

Muhammad Akhtar^{a,b,*}, J. Neville Wright^b, Peter Lee-Robichaud^c

^a School of Biological Sciences, University of the Punjab, New Campus, Lahore, 54590, Pakistan

^b School of Biological Sciences, University of Southampton, Southampton, SO17 1BJ, UK

^c Royal Hampshire County Hospital, Romsey Road, Winchester, SO22 5DG, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 March 2010 Received in revised form 25 October 2010 Accepted 3 November 2010

Keywords: P-450c17 P450c17 P-450 17alpha CYP19 Aromatase CYP17 Cytochrome b5 Androgen biosynthesis Iron-oxygen species Steroid biosynthesis

ABSTRACT

In the conventional P-450 dependent hydroxylation reaction, the Fe^{III} resting state of the enzyme, by a single electron transfer, is reduced to Fe^{II}, which reacts with O₂ to produce a Fe^{III}–O–O⁻ intermediate. The latter following the transfer of another electron furnishes a ferric-peroxyanion, Fe^{III}–O–O⁻, which after protonation leads to the fission of the O–O bond resulting in the formation of Fe^V=O, the key player in the hydroxylation process. Certain members of the P-450 family, including CYP17 and CYP19, catalyze, at the same active site, not only the hydroxylation process but also an acyl–carbon bond cleavage reaction which has been interpreted to involve the nucleophilic attack of the ferric-peroxyanion, Fe^{III}–O–O⁻, on the acyl carbon to furnish a tetrahedral intermediate which fragments, leading to acyl–carbon cleavage. Evidence is presented to show that in the case of CYP17 the attack of Fe^{III}–O–O⁻ on the target carbon is promoted by cytochrome b₅, which acts as a conformational regulator of CYP17. It is this regulation of CYP17 that provides a safety mechanism which ensures that during corticoid biosynthesis, which involves 17α-hydroxylation by CYP17, androgen formation is avoided. Finally, a brief account is presented of the inhibitors, of the two enzymes, which have been designed on the basis of their mechanism of action. Article from the Special issue on 'Targeted Inhibitors'.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

		-
1.	Aromatase (CYP19)	2
	1.1. Historic background	2
	1.2. Mechanism of the third step in the reaction catalysed by aromatase	4
2.	17α-Hydroxylase-17,20-lyase (CYP 17)	6
	2.1. Background	6
	2.2. Mechanism of the acyl–carbon bond cleavage reactions catalysed by CYP17	6
	2.3. Modulation of the acyl–carbon bond cleavage activity of CYP17 by cytochrome b ₅	6
3.	Inhibitors of aromatase (CYP19) and CYP17	9
	3.1. Sixth-ligand inhibitors	9
	3.2. 'Suicide' inhibitors	9
	Acknowledgements	10
	References	10

1. Aromatase (CYP19)

1.1. Historic background

That androgens (of the type **1**, Scheme 1) are the precursor of estrogens (**6**, estrone; 17 oxygen replaced by 17α -H, 17β -OH is estradiol) was postulated by Nathanson et al. in 1939 [1]. Chemical consideration had suggested that the removal of

^{*} Corresponding author at: School of Biological Sciences, University of the Punjab, New Campus, Lahore, Punjab, 54590, Pakistan.

E-mail addresses: m.akhtar@soton.ac.uk, ma3@soton.ac.uk (M. Akhtar).

^{0960-0760/\$ –} see front matter s 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.11.003



Scheme 1. Sequence of reactions catalysed by aromatase. The fate of oxygen in *Reactions 1 and 3* is shown by asterisk and filled atoms, respectively. The key feature of the scheme is that *H and *O atoms in structure 2 are transferred to formic acid expelled in *Reaction 3*.

(1)

19-methyl group, in the process generating the aromatic ring A of estrogens (**6**), would be facilitated if C-19 was first functionalized. This was supported by the formation of estrone from 19-hydroxyandrostendione (**2**) [2,3]. Subsequent progress in the field owes a great deal to the pioneering observation of Ryan that human placental microsomes contain the complete enzymic machinery for the aromatization process [4]. Over the years the placental enzyme, now known as aromatase (CYP19) and belonging to cytochrome P-450 class of proteins, has been isolated with an increasing degree of purity [5–8], enabling its crystallization and X-ray structure determination [7].

Aromatase is a single chain protein of 419 amino acids $(M_r,$ 48629; Accession: AAA35556) and catalyses three different generic reactions at the same active site, as shown in the sequence of Scheme 1 $(1 \rightarrow 2; 2 \rightarrow 4 \text{ and } 4 \rightarrow 6)$ [2,9–11, also see 15 for cumulative experimental details]. Three androgenic steroids, androstenedione (1), testosterone (1, 17 oxygen replaced by 17α -H, 17 β -OH) and 16 α -hydroxyandrostenedione, are the substrates for aromatase, however, kinetic parameters are most favourable for androstenedione. In all three cases, the first step is the conventional hydroxylation reaction (Eq. (1)), characteristic of most P-450s, producing a 19-hydroxy androgen (2). Aromatase was probably the first enzyme for which it was found that the conversion of a hydroxyl into an aldehydic group, does not occur through a dehydrogenase type of reaction but involves a process using NADPH and O₂ [2]. This requirement for the conversion of an alcohol into an aldehydic group $(2 \rightarrow 4)$ was rationalized by assuming the involvement of a second hydroxylation reaction producing a gem diol intermediate (3). In the latter conversion the new hydroxyl group was inserted into the H_{Re} position and then stereospecifically removed in the next dehydration reaction producing 4 [9,12–15].

$$R-H + O_2 + NADPH + H^+ \longrightarrow R-OH + H_2O + NADP^+$$



The earlier expectation was that if an aldehyde, of the type **4**, were to be an intermediate in the aromatization process, it would

be converted into a carboxylic acid and then release CO₂, during the fission of the C-10-C-19 bond. This, however, turned out not to be the case. Instead the aldehydic carbon was expelled as formic acid [9,15,16]. The mode through which the expulsion occurs has aroused keen interest and lively debate, even though the scope of possible mechanisms for the process $(\mathbf{4} \rightarrow \mathbf{6})$ had been severely restricted by our isotopic experiments involving ¹⁸O [15,17]. The key features of these experiments are that the original aldehydic oxygen atom is transferred to formic acid and that the second oxygen (filled oxygen, Scheme 1) is derived from O₂ used in the third oxidative stage of the sequence. To accommodate these features two earlier suggestions were modified. The first assumed [18] that the third oxidative reaction produces 1B-hydroxy intermediate which facilitates the C-10-C-19 bond cleavage in such a way that the hydroxyl oxygen is transferred to the released formic acid. The second mechanism assumes the formation of a 2^β-hyroxy steroid which participates in an intramolecular attack on the C-19 aldehyde group, to produce a hemiacetal which fragments to a 2β -formyl derivative [19]. The latter then undergoes an elimination reaction to produce the aromatic ring A. Despite a wealth of evidence against the latter mechanism it has survived in some respectable publications. Two pieces of concrete experiments against the mechanism are (a) the demonstration by Caspi et al. that the conversion of [2-18O]2β-hydroxy-19-oxo-androstenedione into estrogen did not show the incorporation of the 2β -hydroxyl oxygen into the released formic acid [20] and (b), the work of Cole et al. showed that the diene aldehyde (7, Scheme 2) could act as a substrate producing 3-deoxyestrogen (8) [21]. In the latter conversion there is no provision for the formation of a 2β -hydroxy derivative thus the aromatization of **7** must occur without involving a 2β hydroxylation.

The possibility that the gem diol (**3**), itself, may act as a substrate for the third step, in the aromatase catalysed process, has been considered [22] but is eliminated by two sets of observations. The first is the kinetic study using 19-hydroxy androgen (**2**) which clearly

(2)



Scheme 2. Conversion of an analogue of the aldehyde (4, Scheme 1) into deoxyestrone.

showed that the accumulation of the aldehyde (**4**) preceded the formation of estrogen (Fig. 2 in [15]). Such a temporal profile is broadly in agreement with the earlier careful work of Thompson and Siiteri [10], and recent study [23] in which the aromatization of androstenedione was attended by a stepwise appearance of 19-hydroxy androgen (**2**) first, then of the aldehyde (**4**) before the formation of estrogen (**6**).¹ The second observation is based on ¹⁸O₂ experiments described above. Furthermore, if the third step involved the direct cleavage of the gem diol (**3**), the aromatization of the aldehyde (**4**) (the best of the three substrates (**1**, **2** or **4**) for the enzyme could only occur following its hydration. In which case, the expelled formate would not contain an ¹⁸O atom from ¹⁸O₂ used in the third step, as has been shown repeatedly [15–17].²

1.2. Mechanism of the third step in the reaction catalysed by aromatase

We regard the third step in estrogen biosynthesis to belong to a new generic reaction, conforming to the stoichiometry of Eq. (2), in which an acyl–carbon bond cleavage occurs. The comparison of this reaction, Eq. (2), with that involved in classical hydroxylation process (Eq. (1)), would suggest that the P-450 centre of aromatase is endowed with the property of catalyzing two entirely different generic reactions (Eqs. (1) and (2)) at the same active site. How is this possible? To examine this proposition we consider the precise chemical nature of the iron–oxygen species known to be involved in the hydroxylation reaction. A systematic account of our deliberations, directed to this issue, is described elsewhere [24] and the salient features of which are as follows.

The resting state of aromatase, like those of other P-450s, contains the iron of the heme prosthetic group in the Fe^{III} form (**9**) which through one electron reduction, catalysed by NADPH–P-450 reductase is converted into Fe^{II}; Refs. [25,26] contain comprehensive coverage of the chemistry and biochemistry of P-450s. Next, the latter species reacts with oxygen producing a covalent adduct whose spectroscopic and magnetic properties are similar to those of oxyhemoglobin [27]. Although, the seminal observation that oxygen binding to hemoglobin is attended by the conversion of a high spin iron into a low spin iron was made by Pauling and Coryell in 1936 [28], the oxidation state of the iron and precise bond-structure of the ligands around it, in hemoglobin remained undefined. Reviving an earlier proposal of Weiss [29,30] we advocated that oxyhemoglobin should be formulated as a hexaccordinated complex of Fe^{III} in which a superoxide anion is one of the ligands [24]. This formulation is gaining gradual acceptance and the equivalent one-electron reduced intermediate in P-450 has structure **10** (Scheme 3).

The transfer of a second electron, from the NADPH-P-450 reductase system, converts the superoxide ligand to a peroxide dianion (peroxo-ferric intermediate). Which upon protonation [31], followed by the scission of the O-O bond, produces the oxo-derivative (12) [32–34] that is involved in the first two hydroxylation reactions catalysed by aromatase. During the normal cycle, the peroxydianion (11) is rapidly processed to the oxo-derivative but we argued that when the target C-19 atom is in the form of an aldehyde, embedded at the active site, the Fe^{III}-O-O⁻ species is trapped by nucleophilic attack to produce the adduct 14 [15-17,35]; also see [36]. This proposal originally made in 1976 [16] and bolstered by later studies [15,17,35,36], has received strong endorsement by recent EPR analysis [37]. There are several routes through which the latter may fragment to expel formic acid. The first is a Baever–Villiger rearrangement giving a 10β-formyl derivative which undergoes an elimination reaction to set the stage for the formation of ring A of estrogens. This possibility has been ruled out by an unambiguous preparation of the 10^β-formyl derivative which was shown not to be a substrate for aromatase [15,35].

Consequently, our favourite option is the one in which the crucial C10-C19 bond cleavage, by aromatase, is promoted by the fragmentation of the peroxy adduct (15, Scheme 4), which can occur by heterolytic, homolytic or a cyclic pathway; the choice between these options being dictated by the geometric considerations together with the acidity of the C-H bond [24]. In the case of aromatase catalysed reaction, $\mathbf{4} \rightarrow \mathbf{6}$, when the C-1 β -hydrogen cleaved in the process will be expected to have a high pK_a , a cyclic mechanism or one operating via radical intermediates seems most appropriate. The latter process is initiated by a homolytic cleavage of the peroxy bond in **15** to furnish Fe^{III}-O• and an alkoxy radical (16). There are numerous precedents to suggest that a favourable course for the decomposition of such an alkoxy radical is the fragmentation reaction to produce formate and a tertiary carbon radical. The latter is guenched by a disproportionation process, creating the 1,10-ene system of estrogen ($17 \rightarrow 6$, Scheme 4). With respect to the stage at which the 2,3-double bond of the aromatic ring is created, we have argued that this occurs before the fragmentation process since a preexisting double bond in the C-2-C-3 position (as in $15 \rightarrow 17$) will aid the abstraction of the 1 β -hydrogen [38]. Support for this conjecture is provided by experiments which showed that 3-deoxy-2,4-diene system of the aldehyde 7 was converted by aromatase into deoxyestrogen (8) [21]. Recent findings, however, suggest that the presence C-2-C-3 double bond for the abstraction of the C-1 hydrogen, though desirable, may not be mandatory since 3-deoxyandrogens - where enolisation is not possible - can act as substrates for aromatase [39].

In 2009 a 2.9 Å resolution X-ray crystal structure of aromatase was published [7]. This was remarkable for being of the full length native protein purified from human placenta and shows the enzyme in complex with its natural substate, androstenedione (**1**). Examination of the positioning of the substrate in the active site enabled the authors to assign individual amino acids to catalytic roles predicted by the chemical studies on the mechanism (and supported by site-specific mutagenesis studies) [40,41].

The structure shows that Asp 309 is positioned so that, in its protonated form, it can hydrogen bond to the 3-keto oxygen of androstenedione. This would not only be to aid substrate binding but would also promote enolisation of the ketone to form the 2,3 double bond as discussed above. To direct the enolisation it would be desirable to have some groups to aid the removal of the 2β hydrogen. It appears that the carbonyl of Ala 306 with participation of the hydroxyl of Thr 310 and possibly a catalytic water, is

¹ Whenever the same enzyme catalyses consecutive steps in a pathway and *in vitro* experiments show the accumulation of intermediates in the medium, a question remains. That is, whether *in vivo*, when the quantity of the initial substrate in comparison to the enzyme is low, the intermediates dissociate and re-associate to the enzyme (distributive reaction course) or remain bound to it through out their journey to the final product (processive reaction course). Recent work shows the enzyme to be a distributive rather than a processive enzyme [23]. From a chemical mechanistic view point we regard it a peripheral issue, and focus on the importance of the electrophilicity of the carbonyl group of 4 to trap the peroxide anion, irrespective of how 4 reaches the active site.

 $^{^2}$ Recently, in the case of 14 α -demthylase, the view in [22] has been revised in favour of the peroxy mechanism in Scheme 3 [92].



Scheme 3. Dual pathways for multifunctional P-450. The resting state of the P-450 (**9**) is converted via **10** into **11**, by two single-electron reduction and reaction with O₂. The latter (**11**) then either follows the hydroxylation path, or when the target centre contains a carbonyl centre (as in **13**), participates in the formation of the adduct **14** which undergoes a cleavage reaction.

positioned to carry out this role. In the X-ray crystal structures of soluble bacterial P-450 hydroxylases, the equivalent of these two residues have been proposed to take part in the proton relay network that provides the two protons required to break the O–O bond of the iron-bound peroxy species [42,43]. This forms the iron mono-

oxygen species required for hydroxylation. Thus, in aromatase, it is proposed that in the first two oxidative steps, Ala 306 and Thr 310 are involved in the formation of the iron mono-oxygen species and in the final step they participate in the removal of the 2β hydrogen.



Scheme 4. Mechanism of *Reaction 3* (Scheme 1) catalysed by aromatase. The tetrahedral complex 15 is formed by the nucleophilic attack of 11 (Scheme 3) on the aldehydic carbon of 4 (Scheme 1).

In earlier models [44] it has been proposed that Thr 310 participates in promoting the cleavage of the aldehyde (4) by hydrogen bonding to the C-19 carbonyl to polarize it for nucleophilic attack. In addition, the proton relay network protonating the distal oxygen of the iron-peroxy anion (11) would be disrupted, resulting in the protection of this species against O–O scission and so favouring the acyl–carbon cleavage reaction. Evidence in support of this 'Threonine switch' mechanism has been provided by resonance Raman experiments [45] on the carbon monoxide–aromatase complex with the various steroid intermediates bound. The X-ray crystallographic structure does not provide clear evidence for or against this model, validation of which will have to await further structural work on the aldehyde-bound enzyme.

The A ring of androstenedione, in a dienol form (Scheme 4) needs to be aromatised with a stereospecific removal of the 1 β hydrogen. It is interesting that no amino acid residue could be identified as participating in this process. This is consistent with our view of the mechanism, in which the removal of the 1 β hydrogen occurs concomitantly with the breaking of the C10–C19 bond. In the radical fragmentation mechanism the 1 β hydrogen is removed as a hydrogen radical, quenching the oxygen radical left on the heme iron: the participation of any other groups is not required [24].

2. 17α -Hydroxylase-17,20-lyase (CYP 17)

2.1. Background

The multifunctional enzyme, cytochrome P-450 17 α hydroxylase-17,20-lyase (CYP 17) lies at the crossroads of corticoid and androgen biosynthesis. It catalyses the conventional cytochrome – P-450 hydroxylation reaction, at position 17α – of the pregnene nucleus (18), which is common for both the pathways (Scheme 5, $19 \rightarrow 21$) and an acyl-carbon cleavage required only for and rogen formation $(21 \rightarrow 22)$ [46]. In addition, the enzyme promotes the formation of two other steroids (20a and 20b), the former being a precursor to a pheromone in the pig [47] and postulated to have an analogous role in man [48]. The 17α -hydroxysteroid (**20b**) is the probable precursor to epitestosterone, whose physiological function is uncertain [49]. The study on the mechanism of their formation has provided key pointers to our understanding of the detailed mechanism of CYP 17 and related C-C bond cleaving *P*-450s, aromatase (CYP19) and sterol 14α -demethylases (CYP51) [24,35,50–52]. Another feature that has facilitated work on CYP17 is the fact that homogeneous preparations of the enzyme can be obtained from neonatal pig testes [53-55] and the human isoform has been expressed in E. coli ([56] and references to the previous work of the group cited therein) and purified in amounts necessary for physicochemical studies [56,57].

One of the four reactions, the hydroxylation process $(19 \rightarrow 21)$ requires no comment and we focus attention on experimental probes used to unravel the mechanisms of the other three reactions, which are represented by the conversions, $21 \rightarrow 22$, $19 \rightarrow 20a$ and $19 \rightarrow 20b$.

2.2. Mechanism of the acyl–carbon bond cleavage reactions catalysed by CYP17

All the three transformations of Scheme 5 (*Reactions 2, 3 and 4*) may be regarded as improvisations on the mechanism used for the third reaction of the aromatase catalysed process in which the key player is the Fe^{III}–O–O⁻ species. For androgen biosynthesis the latter reacts with the C-20 carbonyl group of 17α -hydroxyprogestogen to give the adduct **23** which fragments via **24** and **25** (Scheme 6) to expel the side chain as acetic acid. The latter retains all the original atoms of the acetyl moiety and incorporates an atom of oxygen from molecular oxygen (**21** \rightarrow **22**,

Scheme 5) [58]. For the formation of the 16,17-ene steroid, the Fe^{III}-O-O⁻ species is trapped by the progestogen, prior to hydroxylation, and the resulting peroxy adduct 26 decomposes to generate a C-17 radical 28 which is neutralized by a disproportionation reaction involving the loss of C-16 α -hydrogen atom (**28** \rightarrow **20a**, Scheme 6). That the overall process occurs involving trans oriented substituents is consistent with a stepwise, rather than an electrocyclic process. The conditions which favour the formation of 16,17-ene (**20a**), invariably lead to the co-production of 17α hydroxyandrogen (20b). The latter can be envisaged to be formed by the quenching of the C-17 radical (28) by the delivery of a hydroxyl radical (path a, Scheme 6). There are, thus, two alternative courses for the neutralization of the C-17 radical, one producing the 16,17-ene and the other, a 17α -hydroxy steroid, the precursor of 17α -hyrdoxytestosterone (*epi*testosterone). It is to be emphasized that the formation of 17α -hydroxy steroid is attended by an inversion of configuration at C-17 and occurs at the expense of the cleavage of a single bond in the steroid side chain, between C-17 and C-20. These features underpinning the formation of 20a and **20b**, in which an acyl–carbon bond from the β -face of the steroid nucleus is cleaved and an activated oxygen species approaches the substrate from its α -face, restrict the mechanism of their genesis to a single process of the type shown in Scheme 6 [52,55]. The multiplicity of acyl-carbon cleavage reactions catalysed by CYP17 have thus provided a testing ground for the mechanism of the third step of aromatase reaction and the equivalent conversion involved in the process catalysed by CYP51 (steroid 14α -demethylase) [35,59].

2.3. Modulation of the acyl-carbon bond cleavage activity of CYP17 by cytochrome b_5

During the course of studies on the elucidation of the chemical mechanism of the dual-function P450s, it was discovered that for the human isoform of CYP17, the androgen producing lyase reaction was heavily dependent on the presence of the membranebound form of cytochrome b₅ [56,57,60]. Table 1 summarises the essential data, in terms of k_{cat}/K_m values, showing that for the hydroxylation of pregnenolone (**18a**) the parameter increased, barely, 2-fold in the presence cytochrome b₅, whereas the two side chain cleavage reactions, from being non-existent, in the absence of cytochrome b₅, reached a respectable level, in its presence. Interestingly, with the Δ^4 -steroid, progesterone (**18b**), as substrate, the direct cleavage represented by *Reaction 3* was undetectable, while, the cleavage of the 17 α -hydroxylated progesterone (*Reaction 2*) was totally dependent on cytochrome b₅.

The proposed role of cytochrome b_5 , in regulating the acyl–carbon bond cleavage activity of human CYP17, gains further support from immunohistochemical studies. The adrenal zona reticularis, the adrenal cortex tissue layer that excretes androgens, was shown to expresses CYP17 and cytochrome b_5 , whereas the zona fasciculata, that excretes cortisol but not androgens, expresses CYP17 only [61,62]. In addition, in the human adrenal zona fasciculata and zona reticularis, the expression of CYP17 remains reasonably constant, as a function of age, where as the expression of cytochrome b_5 in the zona reticularis, at the onset of adrenarche, increases along with the acyl–carbon bond cleavage activity of CYP17 [63,64]. Furthermore, high levels of cytochrome b_5 have been reported in human testes and in the adenomas of patients suffering from Cushing's syndrome that produce excessive androgens [62,65–69].

To explore the nature of the interaction of CYP17 with cytochrome b_5 , we performed mutagenesis of certain basic amino acid residues of CYP17 which we anticipated may form electrostatic interactions with acidic residues of cytochrome b_5 . The basic residues targeted, were selected from an amino acid linear sequence alignment of CYP17 with P-450_{BM-3}, being in or immedi-





Scheme 5. Reactions catalysed by CYP17. The box contains the two key progestogens, pregnenolone and progesterone. The hydroxylation *Reaction 1* and cleavage by *Reaction 2* occur with both the substrates. However, with the human CYP17 the cleavage *Reactions 3 and 4* are observed only with the pregnenolone skeleton.



Scheme 6. Pathways for the formation of three cleavage products from peroxy adducts 23 and 26.

ately adjacent to the P-450_{BM-3}-redox protein binding region [70]. Initially, residues targeted for mutation were changed to alanine, however, during the course of the work, single amino acid mutations, $Arg^{347} \rightarrow His$ and $Arg^{358} \rightarrow Gln$, had been reported to result in the loss of the acyl–carbon cleavage activity of CYP17 and to cause sexual phenotype changes in 46XY human patients [71]–these disease state mutants were then also constructed.

The mutant proteins were purified to homogeneity and detailed kinetic studies performed [72–74]. The two disease-state proteins and their alanine equivalents, as well as another mutant, $Arg^{449} \rightarrow Ala$, were found to possess the hydroxylation activity but be completely devoid of any of the cytochrome b₅-dependent acyl–carbon cleavage activities (Fig. 1A, B and C, respectively). These mutants thus had been converted from a multifunctional enzyme into a conventional hydroxylase. The mutational experiments also show that the interaction between CYP17 and cytochrome b₅ involves the cationic residues of the former, in particular Arg^{347} , Arg^{358} and possibly Arg^{349} . The anionic residues of cytochrome b₅ which pair with the three, aforementioned, cationic sites of CYP17 are not known, but a subsequent study, on the mutation of cytochrome b₅, had shown that the substitution of Glu⁴⁸

and Glu⁴⁹with Gly gave mutants which showed decreased activity to stimulate the acyl–carbon bond cleaving activity of CYP17 [75].

The role of cytochrome b₅ in regulating the various activities of cytochrome P-450s has been well documented but the molecular basis of these affects is not fully understood [76-79]. It has been argued that cytochrome b₅ may enhance the efficiency of electron transfer to a key iron-oxygen species involved in the catalytic P-450 cycle [78,80,81]. Evidence against this was provided by Guengerich's laboratory [82] but this was countered by a subsequent study [83]. Our results with an aldehyde analogue, lacking the 21-methyl group (structure 18a, the 21-methyl group replaced by H), provided a forceful argument against the direct involvement of cytochrome b₅ in the electron transfer process during the side chain cleavage catalysed by CYP17 [74]. We had shown that the deformylation of the aldehyde analogue occurred through the same chemical mechanism as the side chain cleavage of the two physiological substrates [55]. However, this deformylation occurred at a rate 4-fold faster than any physiological transformation catalysed by CYP17 yet did not require, nor was enhanced by, cytochrome b₅. Furthermore, the mutant CYP17 proteins, that had lost their physiological side chain cleav-

Fabl	e	1	

Kinetic parameters of purified human CYP17.

	Kinetic parameters					
	Without cytochrome b ₅			With cytochrome b ₅		
	Km	V _{max}	k_{cat}/K_m	Km	V _{max}	k_{cat}/K_m
Δ^5 -steroid						
Pregnenolone 18a \rightarrow 17 α -hydroxypregnenolone (of the type 21)	0.65	2.20	$5.6 imes10^4$	0.65	3.90	$1.0 imes 10^5$
Pregnenolone $18a \rightarrow 5,16$ -diene (of the type $20a$)		< 0.02	-	0.65	0.39	$1.0 imes 10^4$
17α -Hydroxypregnenolone 19a \rightarrow DHEA (of the type 22)		< 0.02	-	1.18	2.45	$3.5 imes 10^4$
Δ^4 -steroid						
Progesterone 18b \rightarrow 17 α -hydroxyprogesterone (of the type 21)	1.00	3.33	$5.6 imes 10^4$	1.00	4.66	$7.8 imes10^4$
Progesterone 18b \rightarrow 4,16-diene (of the type 20a)		0.00	0.00	-	0.00	0.00
17α -Hydroxyprogesterone (of the type 21) \rightarrow and rostenedione (of the type 22)		0.00	0.00	5.00	1.80	$\textbf{6.0}\times10^3$

Adapted from [57]. Activities are expressed as nmol of product formed/min/nmol of cytochrome P450, K_m data are in µM and k_{cat}/K_m units are M⁻¹ s⁻¹.

age activities, were able to cleave the formyl side chain (Fig. 1D). The oxidative cleavage of the acyl–carbon side chain by CYP17, thus, does not depend on the electron transfer properties of cytochrome b_5 . Cumulatively, these findings bolstered our earlier hypothesis that the interaction of cytochrome b_5 with the CYP17-substrate complex causes protein conformational changes which culminate in directing the iron-oxygen ligand of P-450 away from C-17 and towards C-20 (Scheme 7). This facilitates a nucleophlic attack of the peroxide anion on the carbonyl carbon producing a tetrahedral adduct that follows the side chain cleavage path.

Finally, we have shown that the kinetic parameters for the cytochrome b₅-dependent cleavage of the 17α -hydroxy- Δ^5 steroid (**18a** containing a hydroxyl group at 17α) are more favourable than those for the cleavage of the 17α -hydroxy- Δ^4 -steroid (**18b** containing a hydroxyl group at 17 α). When considered with the finding that the zona reticularis does not express 3 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/ Δ^{5-4} isomerase [84], it seems reasonable to infer, in vivo, the preferential cleavage of 17α -hydroxypregnenolone to produce dehydroepiandrosterone, which using the sulphotransferase activity of the adrenal cortex, is secreted as the inactive sulphoconjugate. In addition to the control exerted by cytochrome b₅, serine phosphorylation of CYP17 has been shown to increase the lyase activity, with the interplay of these two processes adding to the complexity of the physiological regulation [85]. These interrelated and co-ordinated transformations provide the mechanism by which the human adrenal avoids contributing to the unwanted production of active androgens, testosterone and androstenedione; enabling the female of the human species to escape from the physiological ramifications which could be promoted by the male hormone.

3. Inhibitors of aromatase (CYP19) and CYP17³

3.1. Sixth-ligand inhibitors

Scheme 3, structure 14, highlights the participation of a hexaco-ordinated species in a pivotal role in the third step catalysed by aromatase. This feature led us to conjecture that, by the introduction of sulphur or nitrogen containing groups at C-19, it may be possible to produce compounds which not only interact with the steroid-binding site of the enzyme but also provide the sixth-ligand to its haem-iron. We reasoned that such compounds should be strong and specific aromatase inhibitors. Accordingly, two steroids, 19-thiomethyl- and 19-azido-androstenedione (29 and 30, Scheme 8) fulfilling these criteria were discovered in 1985 [86,87] and their mode of inhibition established by kinetics and spectroscopic studies [88]. These compounds, 19-thiomethyland 19-azido-androstenedione had K_i values of 1×10^{-9} and 5×10^{-9} M, respectively, and interacted with aromatase as shown in 31 and 32 (Scheme 8). Contemporaneously, other inhibitors based on co-ordination to haem iron, were discovered for aromatase (for example 34 and 35) and cholesterol side chain cleavage enzyme (P-450scc) [89]. Work on the inhibitors of aromatase until 1990 is reviewed by Cole and Robinson [90]. Subsequently, the same reasoning was used to design inhibitors for CYP17 and the most successful example of this is abiraterone (36, Scheme 8) [91].

3.2. 'Suicide' inhibitors

Another popular approach for designing inhibitors for aromatase and related enzymes is to search for structures which are



Fig. 1. Native and human CYP17 hydroxylase (Scheme **5**, *Reaction 1*), *lyase* (*Reaction 2*), direct cleavage (*Reactions 3 and 4*) and carbaldehyde deformylation. Adapted from [74]. Data expressed as means \pm S.E. bars.

modified by the enzyme to produce a reactive intermediate which may irreversibly bind to the enzyme. Several steroids, for example **33**, when incubated with aromatase in the presence of O_2 and NADPH have been found to inactivate the enzyme in a time dependent fashion as expected from suicide inhibitors [90]. However, in none of the cases has the mandatory requirement of showing the formation of a covalent adduct between the inhibitor and aromatase, been met. Possibility exists that such inhibitors promote the formation of reactive oxygen species, of the type **10** to

³ This theme is comprehensively considered, in this issue of the journal, by Drs Angela Brodie and Vincent Njar.



Scheme 7. Conformational role of cytochrome b₅ in modulating the cleavage activity of CYP17. The cartoon diagram shows that binding of cytochrome b₅ to CYP17 promotes protein conformation change which directs the iron-oxygen species away from C-17 towards the carbonyl carbon at C-20 to allow the formation of a tetrahedral complex.



Scheme 8. Sixth-ligand coordination and 'suicide' inhibitors of aromatase and CYP17. The steroids 29 and 30 interact with aromatase as shown in 31 and 32. Several other steroidal inhibitors also act via the complex of the type 31 and 32 [90]. Non-steroidal aromatase inhibitors, latrozole and anastrozole may form a sixth-ligand coordination complex using one of the nitrogen atoms in the triazole ring. Likewise, abiraterone, inhibits CYP17 using the pyridine N as the sixth-ligand. The aromatase inhibitor, exemestane, inactivates the enzyme in a time-dependent process by a mechanism whose details are not yet known (see text).

12 (Scheme 3) but that these are not suitably juxtapositioned to the target C-19 and react instead with a neighboring group at the enzyme active site leading to inactivation.

Acknowledgements

We thank Mrs Monika E Akhtar for contributions to the research work in the CYP17 field and for critically reading the present manuscript.

References

- I.T. Nathanson, J. Jones, L.E. Towne, The urinary excretion of estrogens, androgens and FSH following the administration of testosterone to human female castrates, Endocrinology 25 (1939) 754–758.
- [2] M. Akhtar, S.J.M. Skinner, The intermediary role of a 19-oxoandrogen in the biosynthesis of oestrogen, Biochem. J. 109 (1968) 318–321.
- [3] T. Morato, M. Hyano, R.I. Dorfman, L.R. Axelrod, The intermediate steps in the biosynthesis of oestrogens from androgens, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 20 (1961) 334–338.
- [4] K.J. Ryan, Biological aromatisation of steroids, J. Biol. Chem. 234 (1959) 268–272.
- [5] S. Nakajin, M. Shinoda, P.F. Hall, Purification to homogeneity of araomatase from human placenta, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 134 (1986) 704–710.
- [6] J.T. Kellis, L.E. Vickery, Purification and characterisation of human placental
- aromatase cytochrome P450, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 4413–4420. [7] D. Gosh, J. Griswold, M. Erman, W. Pangborn, Structural basis for androgen
- specificity and oestrogen synthesis in human aromatase, Nature 457 (2009) 219-223.

- [8] L. Tan, N. Muto, Purification and reconstitution properties of human placental aromatase. A cytochrome P450-type monoxygenase, Eur. J. Biochem. 156 (1986) 243–250.
- [9] S.J.M. Skinner, M. Akhtar, The stereospecific removal of a C-19 hydrogen atom in oestrogen biosynthesis, Biochem. J. 114 (1969) 75–81.
- [10] E.A. Thompson, P.K. Siiteri, Utilisation of oxygen and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate by human placental microsomes during aromatisation of androstenedione, J. Biol. Chem. 249 (1974) 5364– 5374.
- [11] C.J. Corbin, S. Graham-Lorence, M. McPhaul, J.I. Mason, C.R. Mendelson, E.R. Simpson, Isolation of a full length cDNA insert encoding human aromatase system cytochrome P-450 and its expression in non-steroidogenic cells, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 85 (1988) 8948–8952.
- [12] D. Arigoni, R. Battaglia, M. Akhtar, T. Smith, Stereospecificity of oxidation at C-19 in oestrogen biosynthesis, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 185–186 (1975).
- [13] Y. Osawa, K. Shibata, D. Rohrer, C. Weeks, W.L. Duax, Reassignment of the absolute configuration of 19-substituted 19-hydroxysteroids and stereomechanism of estrogens biosynthesis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97 (1975) 4400–4402.
- [14] E. Caspi, E. Santaniello, K. Patel, T. Arunachalam, C. Eck, Biosynthesis of estrogens. Assignment of the chemical shift of the 19-pro-chiral hydrogen atoms of a 19-hydroxy precursor, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100 (1978) 5223–5224.
- [15] M. Akhtar, M.R. Calder, D.L. Corina, J.N. Wright, Mechanistic studies on C-19 demethylation in oestrogen biosynthesis, Biochem. J. 201 (1982) 569–580.
- [16] M. Akhtar, D.L. Corina, J. Pratt, T. Smith, Studies on the removal of C-19 in oestrogen biosynthesis using ¹⁸O₂, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1976) 854– 856.
- [17] D.E. Stevenson, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, Mechanistic consideration of P-450 dependent enzymic reactions: studies on oestriol biosynthesis, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (1988) 2043–2052.
- [18] J.D. Townsley, H.J. Brodie, Studies on the mechanism of estrogen biosynthesis. III. The stereochemistry of aromatization of C₁₉ and C₁₈ steroids, Biochemistry 7 (1986) 33–40.
- [19] J. Goto, J. Fishman, Participation of a non-enzymic transformation in the biosynthesis of estrogens from androgens, Science 195 (1977) 80–81.

- [20] E. Caspi, J. Wicha, T. Arunachalam, P. Nelson, G. Spiteller, Estrigen biosynthesis. Concerning the obligatory intermediary of 2β-hydroxy-10β-formyl androst-4-ene-3,17-dione, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 106 (1984) 7282–7283.
- [21] P.A. Cole, J.M. Bean, C.H. Robinson, Conversion of a 3-deoxysteroid to 3deoxyestrogen by human placental aromatase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 (1990) 2999–3003.
- [22] J.C. Hackett, R.B. Brueggemeier, C.M. Hadad, The final step of cytochrome P450 aromatase: a density functional theory study, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 127 (2005) 5224–5287.
- [23] C.D. Sohl, F.P. Guengerich, Kinetic analysis of the three-step steroid aromatase reaction of human cytochrome P450 19A1, J. Biol. Chem. 285 (2010) 17734–17743.
- [24] M. Akhtar, J.N. Wright, A unified mechanistic view of oxidative reactions catalysed by P-450 and related Fe-containing enzymes, Natl. Prod. Rep. (1991) 527–551.
- [25] J.T. Grove, Y.-Z. Han, Models and mechanisms of cytochrome P450, in: P.R. Ortiz de Montellano (Ed.), Cytochrome P450: Structure, Mechanism and Biochemistry, Plenum Press, New York/London, 1995, pp. 3–48.
- [26] P.R. Ortiz de Montellano, Oxygen activation and reactivity, in: P.R. Ortiz de Montellano (Ed.), Cytcochrome P450 Structure, Mechanism and Biochemistry, Plenum Press, New York/London, 1995, pp. 245–303.
- [27] M. Sharrock, P.G. Debrunner, C. Shultz, J.D. Lipscomb, V.P. Marshall, I.C. Gunsalus, Cytochrome P-450_{cam} and its complexes: Mossbauer parameter of the haem-iron, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 420 (1976) 8–26.
- [28] L. Pauling, C.D. Coryell, The magnetic properties and structure of hemoglobin, oxyhemogolbin and carbonmonoxyhemoglobin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 22 (1936) 210–216.
- [29] J.J. Weiss, Nature of the iron-oxygen bond in oxyhaemoglobin, Nature 202 (1964) 83-84.
- [30] J.J. Weiss, Nature of the iron-oxygen bond in oxyhaemoglobin, Nature 203 (1964) 183.
- [31] G.D. Nordblom, M.J. Coon, Hydrogen peroxide formation and stoichiometry of hydroxylation reactions catalysed by highly purified liver microsomal cytochrome P-450, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 180 (1977) 343–347.
- [32] B. Chance, L. Powers, Y. Ching, T. Poulos, G.R. Schonbaum, I. Yamazaki, K.G. Paul, X-ray absorption studies of intermediates in peroxidase activity, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 235 (1984) 596–611.
- [33] J.H. Dawson, Probing structure-function relations in haem-containing oxygenases and peroxidases, Science 240 (1988) 433-439.
- [34] G.R. Schonbaum, S. Lo, Interaction of peroxidases with aromatic peracids and alkyl peroxides, J. Biol. Chem. 247 (1972) 3353–3360.
- [35] M. Akhtar, V.C. Njar, J.N. Wright, Mechanistic studies on aromatase and related C-C bond cleaving P-450 enzymes, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 44 (1993) 375-387.
- [36] E.S. Roberts, A.D.N. Vaz, M.J. Coon, Catalysis by cytochrome P-450 of an oxidative reaction in xenobiotic aldehyde metabolism: deformylation with olefin formation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 88 (1991) 8963–8966.
- [37] S.L. Gantt, I.G. Denisov, Y.V. Grinkova, S.G. Sligar, The critical iron-oxygen intermediate in human aromatase, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 387 (2009) 169–173.
- [38] J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, Studies on estrogen biosynthesis using radioactive and stable isotopes, Steroids 55 (1990) 142–151.
- [39] M. Numazawa, M. Nagoaka, N. Sohtome, Aromatase reaction of 3deoxyandrogens: steric mode of the C-19 oxygenation and cleavage of the C10–C-19 bond by human pacental aromatase, Biochemistry 44 (2005) 10839–10845.
- [40] N. Kadoharma, C. Yarborough, D. Zhou, S. Chen, Y. Osawa, Kinetic properties of aromatase mutants Pro308Phe, Asp309Asn and Asp309Ala and their interactions with aromatase inhibitors, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 43 (1992) 693–701.
- [41] M. Imai, H. Shimada, Y. Watanabe, Y. Matsushima-Hibiya, R. Makino, H. Koga, T. Horiuchi, T. Ishimura, Uncoupling of the cytochrome P450cam monooxygenase reaction by a single mutation, threonine-252 to alanine or valine: a possible role of the hydroxyamino acid in oxygen activation, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86 (1989) 7823–7827.
- [42] S. Nagano, T.L. Poulos, Crystallographic study on the dioxygen complex of wild-type and mutant cytochrome P450cam. Implications for the dioxygen activation mechanism, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 31659–31663.
- [43] S. Nagano, J.R. Cupp-Vickery, T.L. Poulos, Crystal structures of the ferrous dioxygen complex of wild-type cytochrome P450eryF and its mutants, A245S and A245T: investigation of the proton transfer system in P450eryF, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 22102–22107.
- [44] S.E. Graham Lorence, B. Amarneh, R.E. White, J.A. Peterson, E.R. Simpson, A three-dimensional model of aromatase cytochrome P450, Protein Sci. 4 (1995) 1065–1080.
- [45] T. Tosha, N. Kagawa, T. Ohta, S. Yoshioka, M.R. Waterman, T. Kitagawa, Raman evidence for specific substrate-induced structural changes in the heme pocket of human cytochrome P450 aromatase during the three consecutive oxygen activation steps, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 5631–5640.
- [46] S. Nakajin, P.F. Hall, M. Onoda, Testicular microsomal cytochrome P-450 for C₂₁ steroid side chain cleavage. Spectral and binding studies, J. Biol. Chem. 256 (1981) 6134–6139.
- [47] H.C.B. Reed, D.R. Melrose, R.L.S. Patterson, Androgen steroids as an aid to the detection of oestrus in pig artificial insemination, Br. Vet. J. 130 (1974) 61–67.
- [48] D.B. Gower, K.T. Holland, A.I. Mallet, P.J. Rennie, W.J. Watkins, Comparison of 16-androstene steroid concentrations in sterile apocrine sweat and axillary

secretions: interconversion of 16-androstenes by the axillary microflora—a mechanism for axillary odour production on man? J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 48 (1994) 409–418.

- [49] L. Dehennin, Secretion by the human testis of epitestosterone, with its sulfoconjugate and precursor androgen 5-androstene-3β,17α-diol, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 44 (No. 2) (1993) 171–177.
- [50] D.L. Corina, S.L. Miller, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, The mechanism of cytochrome P-450 dependent C-C bond cleavage: studies on 17α-hydroxylase-17,20-lyase, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1991) 782-783.
- [51] S.L. Miller, J.N. Wright, D.L. Corina, M. Akhtar, Mechanistic studies on pregnene side-chain cleavage enzyme (17α-hydroxylase-17,20-lyase) using ¹⁸O, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1991) 157–159.
- [52] M. Akhtar, D. Corina, S. Miller, A.Z. Shyadehi, J.N. Wright, Mechanism of the acyl-carbon cleavage and related reactions catalysed by multifunctional P-450s: studies on cytochrome P-450₁₇α, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 4410–4418.
- [53] S. Nakajin, P.F. Hall, Microsomal cytochrome P-450 from neonatal pig testis: purification and properties of a C₂₁ steroid side chain cleavage system (17αhydroxylase-C_{17,20} lyase), J. Biol. Chem. 256 (1981) 3871–3876.
- [54] P. Robichaud, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, The involvement of an O₂-derived nucleophilic species in acyl-carbon cleavage, catalysed by cytochrome P-450_{17a}: implications for related P-450 catalysed fragmentation reactions, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. (1994) 1501–1503.
- [55] P. Lee-Robichaud, A.Z. Shyadehi, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, M. Akhtar, Mechanistic kinship between hydroxylation and desaturation reactions: acyl-carbon cleavage promoted by pig and human CYP17 (P-450_{17α}; 17α-hydroxylase-17,20-lyase), Biochemistry 34 (1995) 14104–14113.
- [56] M. Katagiri, N. Kagawa, M.R. Waterman, The role of cytochrome b₅ in the biosynthesis of androgens by human P-450c17, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 317 (1995) 343–347.
- [57] P. Lee-Robichaud, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, M. Akhtar, Modulation of the activity of human 17α-hydroxylase-17,20-lyase (CYP17) by cytochrome b₅: endocrinological & mechanistic implications, Biochem. J. 308 (1995) 901–908.
- [58] M. Akhtar, D.L. Corina, S.L. Miller, A.Z. Shyadehi, J.N. Wright, Incorporation of label from ¹⁸O₂ into acetate during side-chain cleavage catalysed by cytochrome P-450₁₇α (17α-hyroxylase-17,20-lyase), J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (1994) 263–267.
- [59] A.Z. Shyadehi, D.C. Lamb, S.L. Kelly, D.E. Kelly, W.-H. Schunk, J.N. Wright, D. Corina, M. Akhtar, The mechanism of the acyl-carbon bond cleavage reaction catalysed by recombinant sterol 14α-demethylase of *Candida albicans* (other names are: lanosterol 14α-demethylase, P-450_{14DM} and CYP51), J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996).
- [60] P. LeeRobichaud, M.A. Kaderbhai, N. Kaderbhai, J.N. Wright, M. Akhtar, Interaction of human CYP17 (P-450(17 alpha), 17 alpha-hydroxylase-17,20-lyase) with cytochrome b(5): importance of the orientation of the hydrophobic domain of cytochrome b(5), Biochem. J. 321 (1997) 857-863.
- [61] T. Suzuki, H. Sasano, T. Sawai, J.I. Mason, H. Nagura, Immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization of P-45017 alpha (17 alpha-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase), J. Histochem. Cytochem. 40 (1992) 903–908.
- [62] S. Dharia, A. Slane, M. Jian, M. Connor, A. Conley, C.R. Parker, Colocalisation of P450c17 and cytochrome b5 in androgen-synthesising tissues of the human, Biol. Reprod. 71 (2004) 83–88.
- [63] S. Mapes, A. Tarantal, C.R. Parker, F.M. Moran, J.M. Bahr, L. Pyter, A. Conley, Adrenocortical cytochrome b5 expression during fetal development of the rhesus macaque, Endocrinology 143 (2002) 1451–1458.
- [64] T. Suzuki, H. Sasano, J. Takeyama, C. Kaneko, W.A. Freije, B.R. Carr, W.E. Rainey, Developmental changes in steroidogenic enzymes in human postnatal adrenal cortex: immunohistochemical studies, Clin. Endocrinol. 53 (2000) 739–747.
- [65] J.I. Mason, R.W. Estabrook, J.L. Purvis, Testicular cytochrome P-450 and iron-sulphur protein as related to steroid metabolism, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 212 (1973) 406–419.
- [66] Y. Sakai, T. Yanase, R. Takayanagi, R. Nakao, Y. Nishi, M. Haji, H. Nawata, High expression of cytochrome b₅ in adrenocortical adenomas from patients with Cushing's syndrome associated with high secretion of adrenal androgens, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 76 (1993) 1286–1290.
- [67] Y. Sakai, T. Yanase, T. Hara, R. Takayanagi, M. Haji, H. Nawata, In-vitro evidence for the regulation of 17,20-lyase activity by cytochrome b5 in adrenocortical adenomas from patients with Cushing's syndrome, Clin. Endocrinol. Oxf. 40 (1994) 205–209.
- [68] Y. Sakai, T. Yanase, T. Hara, R. Takayanagi, M. Haji, H. Nawata, Mechanism of abnormal production of adrenal androgens in patients with adrenocortical adenomas and carcinomas, J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 78 (1994) 36-40.
- [69] T. Yanase, H. Sasano, T. Yubisui, Y. Sakai, R. Takayanagi, H. Nawata, Immunohistochemical study of cytochrome b5 in human adrenal gland and in adrenocortical adenomas from patients with Cushing's syndrome, Endocr. J 45 (1998) 89–95.
- [70] K.G. Ravichandran, S.S. Boddupalli, C.A. Haseman, J.A. Peterson, J. Deisenhofer, Atomic structure of the hemoprotein domain of cytochrome P450bm3: a prototype for eukaryotic microsomal P450s, Science 261 (1993) 731– 736.
- [71] D.H. Geller, R.J. Auchus, B.B. Mendonca, W.L. Miller, The genetic and functional basis of isolated 17,20-lyase deficiency, Nat. Genet. 17 (1997) 201–205.
- [72] P. Lee-Robichaud, M.E. Åkhtar, M. Akhtar, Control of androgen biosynthesis in the human through the interaction of Arg(347) and Arg(358) of CYP17 with cytochrome b(5), Biochem. J. 332 (1998) 293–296.

- [73] P. Lee-Robichaud, M.E. Akhtar, M. Akhtar, Lysine mutagenesis identifies cationic charges of human CYP17 that interact with cytochrome b(5) to promote male sex-hormone biosynthesis, Biochem. J. 342 (1999) 309–312.
- [74] P. Lee-Robichaud, M.E. Akhtar, J.N. Wright, Q.I. SHEIKH, M. Akhtar, The cationic charged on Arg347, Arg358 and Arg449 of human cytochrome P450c17 (CYP17) are essential for the enzyme's cytochrome b5-dependent acyl-carbon cleavage activities, J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 92 (2004) 119–130.
- [75] L. Jacqueline, J.L. Naffin-Olivos, R.J. Auchus, Human cytochrome b5 requires residues E48 and E49 to stimulate the 17,20-lyase activity of cytochrome P450c17, Biochemistry 45 (2006) 755–762.
- [76] J.Y.L. Chiang, Interaction of purified microsomal cytochrome P-450 with cytochrome b₅, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 211 (1981) 662–673.
- [77] Y. Imai, R. Sato, The role of cytochrome b₅ in a reconstituted N-demethylase system containing cytochrome P-450, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 75 (1977) 420–426.
- [78] J.A. Peterson, R.A. Prough, Cytochrome P-450 reductase and cytochrome b5 in cytochrome P-450 catalysis, in: P.R. Ortiz de Montellano (Ed.), Cytochrome P-450 Structure, Mechanism and Biochemistry, Plenum Press, New York/London, 1986, pp. 89–117.
- [79] R.O. Juvonen, M. Iwasaki, M. Negishi, Roles of residues 129 and 209 in the alteration by cytochrome b₅ of hydroxylase activities in mouse 2A P-450S, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 11519–11523.
- [80] E.T. Morgan, M.J. Coon, Effects of cytochrome b₅ on cytochrome P-450catalysed reactions. Studies with manganese-substituted cytochrome b₅, Drug Metab. Dispos. 12 (No. 3) (1984) 358–364.
- [81] D. Pompon, M.J. Coon, On the mechanism of action of cytochrome P-450: oxidation and reduction of the ferrous dioxygen complex of liver microsomal cytochrome P-450 by cytochrome b₅, J. Biol. Chem. 259 (1984) 15377– 15385.
- [82] H. Yamazaki, W.W. Johnson, Y.F. Ueng, T. Shimada, F.P. Guengerich, Lack of electron transfer from cytochrome b5 in stimulation of catalytic activities of cytochrome P450 3A4. Characterisation of a reconstituted cytochrome

P450 3A4/NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase system and studies with apocytochrome b5, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 27438–27444.

- [83] O.L. Guryev, A.A. Gilep, S.A. Usanov, R.W. Estabrook, Interaction of apocytochrome b5 with cytochromes P4503A4 and P45017A: relevance of heme transfer reactions, Biochemistry 40 (2001) 5018–5031.
- [84] S. Mapes, C.J. Corbin, A. Tarantal, A. Conley, The primate adrenal zona reticularis is defined by expression of cytochrome b5, 17 alpha-hydroxylase/17,20-lyase cytochrome P450 (P450c17) and NADPH-cytochrome P450 reductase (reductase) but not 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase/Delta 5-4 isomerase (3 beta-HSD), J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 84 (1999) 3382–3385.
- [85] A.V. Pandey, W.L. Miller, Regulation of 17,20 lyase activity by cytochrome b5 and by serine phosphorylation of P450C17, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 13265–13271.
- [86] J.N. Wright, M. Calder, M. Akhtar, Steroidal C-19 sulphur and nitrogen derivatives designed as aromatase inhibitors, Chem. Commun. (1985) 1733– 1735.
- [87] J.N. Wright, P.T. van Leersum, S.G. Chamberlin, M. Akhtar, Inhibition of aromatase by steroids substituted at C-19 with halogen, sulphur and nitrogen, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 (1989) 1647–1655.
- [88] J.N. Wright, G. Slatcher, M. Akhtar, 'Slow-binding' sixth-ligand inhibitors of cytochrome P-450 aromatase. Studies with 19-thiomethyl- and 19-azidoandrostenedione, Biochem. J. 273 (1991) 533–539.
- [89] J.J. Sheets, L.E. Vickery, Active site-directed inhibitors of cytochrome P-450scc, J. Biol. Chem. 258 (1983) 11446–11452.
- [90] P.A. Cole, C.H. Robinson, Mechanism of inhibition of cytochrome P-450 aromatase, J. Med. Chem. 33 (1990) 2942–2944.
- [91] G.A. Potter, S.E. Barrie, M. Jarman, M.G. Rowlands, Novel steroidal inhibitors of human cytochrome P-450_{17α} (17α-hydroxylase-C_{17,20}-lyase): potential agents for the treatment of prostate cancer, J. Med. Chem. 38 (1995) 2463– 2471.
- [92] K. Sen, J.C. Hackett, Peroxo-iron mediated deformylation in sterol 14αdemethylase catalysis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 132 (2010) 10293–10305.